Contents lists available at ScienceDirect



Exploratory Research in Clinical and Social Pharmacy

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/rcsop

A systematic literature review of patient perspectives of barriers and facilitators to access, adherence, stigma, and persistence to treatment for substance use disorder



OPEN ACCESS

Alina Cernasev^a, Kenneth C. Hohmeier^{a,*}, Kelsey Frederick^a, Hilary Jasmin^b, Justin Gatwood^a

^a Department of Clinical Pharmacy and Translational Science, University of Tennessee Health Sciences Center, Nashville, TN, USA
^b Health Sciences Library, University of Tennessee Health Science Center, Memphis, TN, USA

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 12 February 2021 Received in revised form 21 May 2021 Accepted 21 May 2021

Keywords: Systematic literature review Opioid use disorder Methadone Buprenorphine Patient Qualitative

ABSTRACT

Introduction: The opioid crisis has left a devastating impact on the United States (U.S.) for over 20 years. The overprescribing of opioid medications and availability of illicit opioids have contributed to the U.S. opioid epidemic. Given the complexity of the epidemic, substance use disorder, and its treatment, there is an urgent need for a thorough review of the qualitative literature which has captured the patient's experiences Such patient-derived qualitative data on lived experiences and perspectives may allow researchers, clinicians, and policy makers to glean new insights into addressing this epidemic.

Objectives: The objective of this paper is to present a systematic literature review of the existing U.S. qualitative research and provide a patient perspective on medications for opioid use disorder (MOUD), including barriers and facilitators to MOUD use.

Methods: In November 2019, four electronic databases (PubMed, CINAHL, Scopus, and Web of Science) were searched by a medical librarian using a combination of keywords, Medical Subject Headings (MeSH), and/or CINAHL subject headings. 8766 results were imported into EndNote, then duplicate records were removed, leaving a total of 4722 articles. The unique records were imported into Rayyan QCRI an online platform designed to expedite screening. Blinded screening was undertaken in duplicate by four reviewers. Two researchers abstracted all the articles and used thematic analysis.

Results: The screening in the abstract phase excluded 4681 results, leaving 41 studies for full-text screening to determine their eligibility for inclusion in the review. After screening, 21 articles were included in the study and the analysis is based on these articles Common themes across studies included stigmatization, perceived barriers to MOUD, and MOUD treatment deserts and provider shortages.

Conclusions: Qualitative research studies conducted to date have uncovered substantial MOUD treatment barriers which are both social and structural in nature. Such barriers to treatment may serve to exacerbate the current epidemic and must be taken into consideration in designing policy and treatment solutions for patients with OUD.

Contents

1.	Introduction
2.	Methods
	2.1. Inclusion and exclusion criteria
	2.2. Screening of studies
3.	Results
	3.1. Participants perspective on roots of stigma in OUD access and treatment
	3.2. Lived experiences of patients from initial entry into MOUD to continued recovery
	3.3. MOUD treatment deserts and provider shortage
4.	Discussion
5.	Limitations
6.	Conclusions

* Corresponding author.

E-mail addresses: acernase@uthsc.edu (A. Cernasev), khohmeie@uthsc.edu (K.C. Hohmeier).

http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.rcsop.2021.100029

2667-2766/© 2021 The Authors. Published by Elsevier Inc. This is an open access article under the CC BY license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/).

Author contributions	 . 6
Funding	 . 6
Appendix A. Appendix 1. Algorithm for literature search	 . 6
References	 . 6

1. Introduction

The opioid crisis has left a devastating impact on the United States (U.S.) for over 20 years. In the last decade, the U.S. has shown drastic increases in total opioid overdose deaths, averaging 130 opioid-related deaths per day as of 2018.¹ Factors contributing to this opioid use disorder (OUD) epidemic include the over-prescribing of opioid medications, development of new opioid extended-release formulations, and availability of illicit substances use including heroin and illicitly manufactured fentanyl and other synthetic opioids.^{1–3} Opioid prescriptions become distributed among illegal channels through a process known as diversion.^{4,5} Approximately 21 to 29% of individuals who have been prescribed opioids misuse them.^{5,6} It's also been shown that roughly 4 to 6% of people who misuse prescription opioids will go on to use illicit opiates like heroin, and approximately 75% of new heroin users first misused a prescription opioid.^{7–10} Together, both prescription and illicit opioids have contributed to the nation's burdensome opioid epidemic.

Several health initiatives have been implemented across the U.S. in effort to address the opioid crisis, reduce over-prescribing of opioids, and support individuals in need of treatment. These include the opioid prescription drug monitoring program (PDMP), opioid stewardship programs, drug take-back events, increased naloxone access, and medications for opioid use disorder (MOUD).^{5,11,12} Many states across the U.S. allow the legal dispensing of naloxone without a prescription via a standing order, which has contributed to increased naloxone access and reduced opioid-related deaths (CDC, 2019). Though progress has been made, efforts should continue to further scale naloxone dispensing and access across the country and especially in rural areas.¹³

MOUD, including methadone and buprenorphine maintenance therapy, is an evidence-based treatment modality for OUD demonstrated to reduce illicit opioid use and opioid-related deaths.¹⁴ However, previous studies have reported a large number of patient-identified barriers to MOUD use, including cost, access, dosing regimens, perceived effectiveness, and associated social stigma.^{15–21} For example, a leading adherence barrier for patients receiving methadone-based MOUD is the requirement for daily clinic visits required by federal regulations.^{17,22} According to federal law, methadone may only be dispensed by a certified opioid treatment program. Patients must receive treatment under the supervision of a healthcare practitioner until stable progress and compliance is achieved, at which point patients would be allowed take the medication on their own between appointments.²³

Underlying many of the barriers to MOUD is the stigma associated with OUD and MOUD, which itself has been linked to worsening health outcomes.^{24–26}This discriminative stereotyping heavily influences how society views OUD and, resultingly, how individuals with OUD perceive themselves, a term known as internalized stigma.^{26–29} Internalized stigma itself has been shown to reduce individual's desire to seek initial help for OUD, and over time sustained barriers to engagement in MOUD therapy programs can lead to relapse.^{25,30,31} In addition to general impact public stigma, OUD-related stigma has also been studied within healthcare professionals and leads to a variety of negative outcomes. Past negative stigmatizing experiences have caused many patients with OUD to be distrustful of providers and to forego necessary treatment.³²

Patient perspectives on OUD and MOUD are critical to understanding both treatment goals and barriers to access. Yet, because of the associated stigma, these perspectives are generally hidden from key decision makers like medical professionals and policy makers. Published systematic literature reviews to date have focused on safety and efficacy data of OUD treatment options and varying dosages.^{33–35} Currently there are no systematic literature reviews that explore patient perspectives of MOUD. Such a review of the literature focused on understanding individuals' perspectives and lived experiences with OUD and MOUD would be advantageous for both patients and providers, enabling the provision of more individualized, quality patient care. This includes obtaining a better understanding of patient-perceived facilitators and barriers towards treatment, adherence, access, and the impact of social stigma. By learning and understanding patients' perspectives, improvements can be made in care, adherence, and outcomes and contribute towards our fight against the opioid epidemic. Given the lack of previous systematic reviews regarding patients' perceptions of OUD treatment, the present study set out to explore and evaluate existing U.S. literature in this area. Greater insight into the perspectives of individuals with OUD (including perceived barriers and facilitators to buprenorphine and methadone treatment, access, and adherence) is needed to better understand and predict patients' experiences, motivators, and outcomes and to begin to rid the world of OUD- and MOUD-associated stigma. The objective of this paper is to present a systematic literature review of patient perspectives on MOUD, including barriers and facilitators to MOUD use.

2. Methods

This systematic review was undertaken to identify qualitative and mixed method studies that reported on patient perspectives of barriers and facilitators to access, adherence, and persistence to buprenorphine/methadone treatment for Opioid Use Disorder (OUD). This review was conducted in compliance with the Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic reviews and Meta-Analyses (PRISMA).

In November 2019, four electronic databases (PubMed, CINAHL, Scopus, and Web of Science) were searched by a medical librarian using a combination of keywords, Medical Subject Headings (MeSH), and/or CINAHL subject headings. Grey literature was not explored due to a limited amount of literature and to limitation on study design criteria. The final search strategy can be found in the Appendix 1.

8766 results were imported into EndNote, version 9 (Clarivate, Philadelphia, PA), then duplicate records were removed, leaving a total of 4722 articles. The unique records were imported into Rayyan QCRI (Qatar Computing Research Institute, Doha, Qatar), an online platform designed to expedite screening. Blinded screening was undertaken in duplicate by four reviewers. Studies were limited to the English language, and to publication dates 2000–2020. The titles and abstracts were retrieved, imported into Ryyan and reviewed blindly by three authors. The fourth author served as an arbitrary role.

2.1. Inclusion and exclusion criteria

The reviewers used the inclusion and exclusion criteria that was developed by consensus. All abstracts that were not social behavior researchbased were excluded. All articles that were based on an exclusively quantitative method were excluded such as randomized controlled trials, cohort and case studies, epidemiological studies, knowledge, attitudes and practices studies conducted outside the US, studies conducted during pregnancy, studies conducted with an incarcerated population, and other studies using only standardized questionnaires. Furthermore, articles that used mixed methods, such as a mixture of standardized questionnaires, self-report questionnaires, and focus-group discussions and/or participant observation, were examined to determine whether they were

A. Cernasev et al.

predominantly quantitative or qualitative by nature. Those articles that used primarily quantitative methods were excluded.

2.2. Screening of studies

The screening in the abstract phase excluded 4681 results, leaving 41 studies for full-text screening to determine their eligibility for inclusion in the review. In screening the full-text, 20 articles did not meet criteria and were excluded. This left 21 articles that qualified for inclusion in the review. These 21 articles were based on qualitative research conducted in the US, focused on issues surrounding OUD, and were written in English. The rational for conducting a systematic literature review on qualitative studies is that qualitative studies mainly aim at providing in-depth and nuanced data on the social, behavioral, and cultural aspects of OUD. On the contrary, quantitative studies focus mainly on common trends across a population.

3. Results

A total of 21 studies were included in this narrative review. The first two authors abstracted the articles that contained the following categories: authors, year of publication, source, title of publication, period of study, population demographics (e.g. gender, age, place of residence of informants), number of qualitative interviews, number of focus groups, main research question, main results, and recommendations.^{36,37} The information extracted from each study was entered into a table to provide an overview for a thematic analysis of the articles. Furthermore, both authors (AC, KH) reviewed each article for content analysis and each article has been summarized.³⁷ The authors met to discuss and reached consensus for the thematic analysis.³⁸

In the same time, both authors also assessed the risk of bias using CerQual Evaluation. The GRADE CERQual Evaluation assessed the following criteria Methodological Limitations; Relevance; Coherence and Adequacy of data. Using GRADE CERQual criteria, the team met and discussed the studies and used recommendations such as high, medium, and low.³⁹ Out of 21 studies, 16 were evaluated as high confidence, two received medium confidence, and three fell into low confidence GRADE. Finally, the articles have been subject to a content analysis where the textual information in each has been summarized.

The thematic analysis of these 21 qualitative studies, the following main points were extracted. Table 1 highlights the main points for each study.

- None of these studies included observation or participant observation in their data collection.
- Studies were conducted in different geographic areas of the US and showed diversity.
- Out of 21 studies, 17 studies used mainly semi-structure interviews in data collection, the number of participants varying from 11 to 77.
- None of these studies included observation or participant observation in their data collection.
- The majority of studies used a single method of data collection.Out of the total of 21 studies, 1 used mainly focus groups
- · Three studies combined focus groups and interviews.
- One study focused on barriers such as external health plan policies on formulary coverage, benefit management, reimbursement, the lack of physician linkages to use extended release naltrexone.
- A number of studies focused on the barriers from the patients' perspective on methadone treatment waiting lists, lack of money, lack of health insurance or any insurance issues that could prevent them from accessing methadone center, and transportation.
- · Stigma is an important obstacle to MOUD pausing delays in care.
- A number of studies explored the issues related to patient-centered care access in MOUD and highlighted various obstacles to retention with OUD care. (See Fig. 1.)

3.1. Participants perspective on roots of stigma in OUD access and treatment

Stigmatization in general, the role of perceived and enacted stigma, and its consequences on MOUD were presented in these studies. The studies which address issues of contributing factors to stigma focus on how the complex relationship between knowledge and social conditions, such as homelessness inform an individual's response to stigma. Three articles address the issue of stigma directly, while the other studies address stigma while as a component of barriers to treatment access.

Gunn et al. highlighted the complex interplay between policy and societal norms in creating social stigma, and how these factors deters those with OUD from seeking care. The study was conducted with Russian immigrants living in the U.S. and uncovered the stigmatizing attitudes felt by individuals with OUD from their immigrant community.⁴⁰ Interestingly, it was noted that the Russian immigrant community was more accepting, and consequently holds fewer stigmatizing views, towards heavy drinking. This dichotomy was believed to have stemmed from societal norms within Russian culture, which was influenced by past Soviet Union policies which penalized drug-related addiction, while largely normalizing alcohol-related addiction.⁴⁰ Beyond this stigma towards OUD serving as a barrier for individuals to seek MOUD, it also was found to reduce parental monitoring of early signs of OUD in children until the OUD was severe.

In Bearnot's study, the role of stigma and the discrimination as a barrier to OUD-related care was emphasized by both OUD patients and providers.⁴¹ Participants noted delays in overall care, including limited home care options, patients with OUD faced – explaining that these individuals were singled out as "second class citizens" by healthcare providers when seeking care for both OUD and OUD-related diseases (i.e. endocarditis).⁴¹ Other participants were made to feel as if they were a waste of care resources, noting that physicians and nurses would use terms like "this is your fault" and "we're not going to do it twice" when referring to corrective surgical care.

A number of studies focus on stigma from the perspective of treatment seeking behavior.^{42,43} The main conclusion from the Hewell et al. study is that participants' beliefs played an essential role in the treatment-seeking process, and that intrinsic motivators for long term recovery were dependent on "will, dedication, clarity of values, and spirituality." Participants felt that others had negative views patients on MOUD because they were still "addicts," and not instead in the recovery process. These negative social views also impacted the participants' continued progress in the treatment-seeking.⁴³ Similarly, Hatcher et al. uncovered the differing social needs of their participants' based on social-economic status and ethnicity.⁴² The article concludes that an individualized understanding of the "multiple oppressions and survival needs" of peoples with OUD is a necessary prerequisite to improved MOUD adherence and treatment seeking. Chatter-jee et al. also highlighted stigma as an obstacle to seeking care for participants not enrolled in the OUD treatment.²⁹

3.2. Lived experiences of patients from initial entry into MOUD to continued recovery

The lived experiences of participants' as they undergo methadone and buprenorphine MOUD treatment is discussed. The moderating roles of personal relationships and spirituality in participants' recovery are taken up in many articles. Furst (2013) and Godersky (2019) found that non-adherence to buprenorphine was due to various characteristics, including social, structural, and logistical aspects (e.g., transportation, homelessness, forgetfulness). Participants indicated that intentional non-adherence occurs intermittently so as to allow for occasional substance use or diversion. For example, Furst et al. findings indicate that the participants use buprenorphine/naloxone to manage withdraw between periods of heroin use.⁴⁴ Godersky's results further highlight participants' participation in diversion, refraining from taking medication to use illicit drugs, forgetting

abie 1			
Study summary	for systematic	literature	review

Article and year	Methods: Interview (I) Focus Group (FG) Both	Barriers to care	Stigma	Physician role in patient care	Participants experiences	Pharmacist role: naloxone; patient engagement	Geographic Area
Alanis-Hirsh et al., 2016	Ι	*			*		Oregon, California,
							Wisconsin
Bailey et al., 2014	Ι					*	Massachusetts,
							Pennsylvania,
							Washington
Bearnot et al., 2019	I		*				Not specified
Chatterjee et al., 2018	I				*		Massachusetts
Fleming et. al 2019	FG					*	Texas
Fox et al., 2015	I	*	*		*		New York
Furst et al, 2013	I	*	*	*	*		New York
Godersky et al, 2019	Both	*	*	*	*		Northwest US
Gunn et al., 2016	Both		*		*		New York
Hatcher et al., 2018	I		*		*		Not specified
Heinz et al., 2010	I	*	*		*		Maryland
Hewell et al., 2017	Both	*		*	*		Alaska
Kang et al., 2019	Ι			*		*	North Carolina
Mathis et al., 2020	Ι				*		Tennessee
Mitchell et al., 2011	Ι	*		*	*		Not specified
Peterson et al., 2010	I	*					Maryland
Teruya et al., 2014	I	*		*	*		Not specified
Tofighi et al., 2019	I	*			*		New York
Velez et al., 2017	Ι			*			Oregon
Wilson et al., 2018	Ι	*			*		Pacific Northwest
Yarborough et al., 2016	Ι	*	*				California

to take medication, and splitting doses. This study shows that the participants perceived video directly observed therapy (VDOT) as an opportunity to increase trust from providers concerned about diversion and responsibility.¹⁹

Furthermore, Hatcher et al. show the differences between races and social-economic class plays a significant role in treatment access. For instance, low-income African Americans and Latinos individuals faced office-based buprenorphine treatment as isolating.⁴² On the contrary, educated Caucasians have a better understanding of treatment access and are resourceful for seeking support from outside of the clinic.⁴² In the same vein, Toffigi et al.'s also report that participants limited access to programs in less affluent geographic areas played a significant role in seeking MOUD treatment.⁴⁵ Although some participants in this study were interested on starting treatment with buprenorphine, they expressed limited familiarity with extended-release naltrexone.⁴⁵

An article by Wilson et al. put forth a new theory positing that for those patients with chronic pain a pathway exists from addiction to MOUD. The participants experienced a perceived symbiotic relationship between physical and mental pain (e.g., anxiety, depression, stressors), including the constant search to obtain relief by using opioids to an eventual outcome of participating in a MOUD.⁴⁶ Wilson further posits that relationships are a moderating variable with can both serve as a barrier and facilitator to MOUD treatment.

In several studies focusing on methadone treatment, common subthemes include how social expectations influence the participant's decision to be part of the treatment, discordance between patient and provider MOUD treatment goals, and reasons for treatment seeking motivations. In Mitchell's study, the participants were interviewed when they started the methadone treatment, then at four, eight- and 12-months post-treatment entry. This study indicates that there is variability regarding the participants' goals and their reasons for seeking treatment. The authors also highlighted that failure "to abide by treatment clinic rules do not necessary constitute 'treatment failure' from the perspective of patients, who often wish to remain in treatment even if it is not progressing optimally from the program's perspective".⁴⁷ Furthermore, the study indicated that MOUD treatment motivation was dependent on "a critical event or being at a stage of life that prompted emotional and psychological growth." Peterson et al. illustrate how treatment access barriers including economic burden of treatment (i.e. lack of financial means or health insurance) and lack of transportation, leaves the participant with poor treatment outcomes. Furthermore, participants' beliefs, primarily influenced by their peers, about methadone's possible side effects and reservations about the maintenance program made them unwilling to enroll in the methadone program.⁴⁸

One study encompassed eight community-based opioid treatment programs across the U.S. and the participants were enrolled up to three-anda-half years after participating in a randomized clinical trial comparing the effect of buprenorphine/naloxone and methadone.⁴⁹ The interviewed participants described the barriers and facilitators to buprenorphine/naloxone or methadone. The study combined both general and study-specific barriers and facilitators. General MOUD treatment barriers included a first-hand negative experience with MOUD, access (e.g., transportation, distance to clinic), and competing priorities for the patient. General MOUD facilitators included first-hand positive experience with MOUD, prioritizing MOUD treatment, MOUD staff support. Although mention was made of many patients preference for methadone over buprenorphine/naloxone, there was no deeper exploration of this phenomenon in the study.⁴⁹

3.3. MOUD treatment deserts and provider shortage

This theme addressed specifically the structural barrier of MOUD treatment deserts and MOUD provider shortage. For example, Chatterjee described care obstacles including transportation issues, fluctuations in treatment locations, and shelter assignment changes to access treatment.²⁹ These location-specific barriers to care access were sometimes referred to as "distance to treatment," "gasoline cost," or "competing priorities," among other descriptors – but all centered around a lack of convenient access to MOUD treatment centers.

Similarly, several studies discussed the idea of an MOUD provider shortage and legal and regulatory restrictions prohibiting midlevel providers from engaging in MOUD treatment. There was a total of three studies focused on the pharmacists' roles in the opioid epidemic. Bailey et al investigate pharmacists' general awareness and perceptions of how to prevent opioid overdose and their role in the usage of naloxone.⁵⁰ The study concluded that pharmacists are well-positioned to impact the opioid use population by identifying high-risk patients because they have direct access to at-risk individuals to both screen and subsequently provide naloxone. Following the same line, Fleming et al concluded that the community



Fig. 1. PRISMA flow diagram.

pharmacists are well-positioned to refer participants with OUD to the appropriate treatment and use this opportunity to bring awareness about abuse or misuse of opioids.⁵¹ The main focus is on the need and opportunities for collaboration between physician and community pharmacists to manage chronic non-cancer pain in the context of the opioid epidemic.⁵² This study discusses the healthcare system's weaknesses that healthcare professionals have to mitigate opioid abuse and diversion.⁵² One of the most critical weaknesses discussed by physicians is the need for additional supports and resources for chronic pain management. At the same time, pharmacists identified cost as the major obstacle to initiate new services.⁵²

4. Discussion

This systematic literature review's main goal was to provide an in-depth and detailed understanding of the socio-cultural issues that participants with OUD face within the U.S. The studies included in this narrative review show the unfolding complexities of the opioid epidemic at the individual, community levels, and the stigma associated with OUD. Contrary to quantitative research that provides critical information about the studied population's epidemiological patterns, the qualitative studies presented here add rich insights into the participants' lived medication use experiences, treatment goals, and perspective of the opioid epidemic.

It is important to note that many of the studies provide little information about the actual time of data collection. This information is vital to better understand the patient perspectives on MOUD. Furthermore, a limited number of studies discussed how they achieved rigor and trustworthiness in their methodology and did not provide the methodology for this.

One of this systematic literature review's findings is the preponderance of stigma-based studies identified despite some of these studies do not have a stigma as their research objectives. The stigma arose as a theme or a collateral theme, as the researchers listened to the participants' voices.

The stigma associated with the opioid epidemic is crucial. While various studies discussed stigma as a barrier to adherence to MOUD or not initiate MOUD treatment, relatively few studies examined explicitly viable solutions. However, themes uncovered do present a variety of possible avenues from which future research may uncover such solutions.

Mitchell et al., identified discordance between what a provider or MOUD program deemed treatment failure, and what failure meant to the patient seeking treatment. Such discordance also exists between the patient and provider with expectations of the program and overall treatment goals. This perhaps highlights the need to identify "best practices" in communication and MOUD program policies which close this gap in perceived treatment failure, in addition to exploring what treatment goals are of particular value to the patient even if not it's highly prioritized by the provider or the scientific community. There is also needed to better understand intrinsic motivation for treatment seeking and program adherence behaviors. Several of these motivators were identified by the studies included in this review and include the desire to foster and maintain social connections, clarity of values and purpose, and maturity that comes from time and experience. However, the complex interplay between these factors remains elusive and warrants further exploration.

Feelings of being valued less than other patients or persons in society was also a common theme – and although changing public perceptions may be significant challenge, facilitating an environment within the MOUD clinic more conducive to this patient population maybe markedly less so. For instance, a recent qualitative research study in patients with injectable substance use disorder identified that building trust and supportive relationships with treatment center staff what is a critical factor in their treatment success.⁵³ This further evidences the findings from the Godersky et al. which pointed to the use of technology as a tool to improve this trust, and subsequently treatment success. Furthermore, research should explore how to destigmatize behavior from the healthcare services point of view or how to incorporate participants opinions to improve the patient-provider or patient-staff experience through training and interventions which target the culture within these treatment centers.

Access barriers to MOUD treatment also present a challenge. They include cost, MOUD treatment deserts, healthcare provider shortages, insurance coverage, and transportation. There is limited literature that shows how many participants are enrolled and retained in the MOUD, although the number is almost certainly well below treatment statistics for less stigmatized chronic disease states. The significant contribution of restrictive program structures, lack of continuity of care, and a culture resistant to the use of medications to treat OUD are key to understanding the limited usage of MOUD within the U.S.⁵³ Furthermore, it will be important to garner general perspectives of individuals with OUD in terms of narrative qualitative studies. The uncovering of lived experiences prior to entry into MOUD treatment may serve to facilitate better screening, referral, and public outreach efforts. For instance, a recent study in Tennessee identified that beyond traditional addiction and tolerance pathways to perpetuate OUD, the use of licit and illicit opioids as a revenue source for individuals also serves as a complicating factor in treatment and recovery.⁵⁵

At this particular stage of the opioid epidemic, one can argue that more and robust qualitative research is necessary to better understand the patients' MOUD use experiences. Despite the well documented structural, sociocultural, and individual barriers to treatment, patients seek out and maintain recovery in these opioid treatment programs across the U.S. Understanding the motivations and facilitators of these MOUD-adherent patients may hold the key to better designed care access strategies (e.g., convenient MOUD treatment locations and expanding the provider pool to include other midlevel providers including pharmacists), improved provider-education and training, and public awareness campaigns that make use of the captured lived experiences and stories of this highly stigmatized population.^{56,57}

5. Limitations

The current systematic literature review on qualitative studies should be interpreted in light of its limitations.

Firstly, grey literature such as non-peer-reviewed reports, conference abstracts, masters or doctoral thesis, and commentary papers have been excluded. Secondly, there were a limited number of qualitative studies that addressed the role of pharmacists on the US population. Although numerous qualitative studies were conducted globally, the focus of the current systematic literature review was on the US population. Further systematic literature reviews on qualitative studies could compare and contrast the US's findings with global ones. Thirdly, the current systematic literature review could not capture many qualitative studies focused on the pharmacists roles in MOUD. Finally, studies conducted on social media were not included in the review due to the novelty of the field and the lack of tools to assess the bias. This suggests that future systematic literature reviews should focus on social media research that could bring more evidence to this subject.

6. Conclusions

This systematic literature review covering US qualitative studies published between 2000 and 2020 identified some common themes such as stigmatization, aspects of the healthcare system regarding MOUD, perceived barriers to MOUD, and pharmacists' uprising role in this population. This systematic review shows that there are certain commonalities across the US.

Author contributions

A.C., K.C.H., and KF researched literature and conceived the study. A.C., K.C.H., KF, HJ, and JG were involved in protocol development. HJ did the literature search. A.C., K.C.H., KF, JG did the literature review. A.C. and K.C.H. abstracted all the studies. KF wrote the introduction. AC wrote the first draft of the manuscript. All authors reviewed and edited the manuscript and approved the final version of the manuscript.

Funding

This study was not funded.

Declaration of Competing Interest

The authors declare that they have no known competing financial interests or personal relationships that could have appeared to influence the work reported in this paper.

The authors declare the following financial interests/personal relationships which may be considered as potential competing interests:

Appendix A. Appendix 1. Algorithm for literature search

(((((("Opioid-Related Disorders" [Mesh] OR "opioid use disorder" OR "OUD" OR "opioid abuse")))) AND ((((((("Methadone"[Mesh]) OR "Buprenorphine" [Mesh]) OR "Analgesics, Opioid" [Mesh]) OR "Opiate Substitution Treatment" [Mesh])) OR (("opioid agonist therapy" OR "opioid agonist treatment" OR "analgesic" OR "analgesics" OR "opioid" OR "opioids" OR "methadone" OR "buprenorphine")))))) AND ((((((((("Medication Adherence" [Mesh]) OR ("Treatment Adherence and Compliance" [Mesh])) OR "Treatment Refusal" [Mesh])) OR (("medication adherence" OR "medication compliance" OR "medication persistence" OR "treatment refusal" OR "adherence" OR "compliance" OR "noncompliance" OR "concordance")))))) OR ((((((("Patient Preference" [Mesh]) OR "Health Knowledge, Attitudes, Practice" [Mesh] OR "Patient Acceptance of Health care" [Mesh] OR "Social Stigma" [Mesh] OR Shame [Mesh])) OR (("experience" OR "experiences" OR "perception" OR "perceptions" OR "shame" OR "shames" OR "stigma" OR "stigmas" OR "barrier" OR "barriers" OR "quality of life" OR "attitude" OR "attitudes" OR "belief" OR "beliefs" OR "perspective"

References

- Center for Disease Control. Understanding the epidemic. September 29, 2020www.cdc. gov/drugoverdose/epidemic/index.html.
- Bates C, Laciak R, Southwick A, Bishoff J. Overprescription of postoperative narcotics: a look at postoperative pain medication delivery, consumption and disposal in urological practice. J Urol 2011;185(2):551–555. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.juro.2010.09.088.
- Griffin OH, Miller BL. OxyContin and a regulation deficiency of the pharmaceutical industry: rethinking state-corporate crime. Crit Criminol 2011;19(3):213–226. https:// doi.org/10.1007/s10612-010-9113-9.

A. Cernasev et al.

- Dart RC, Severtson SG, Bucher-Bartelson B, et al. Trends in opioid analgesic abuse and mortality in the United States. New Engl J Med 2015;372(3):241–248. https://doi. org/10.1056/NEJMsa1406143.
- National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine, et al. Pain Management and the Opioid Epidemic: Balancing Societal and Individual Benefits and Risks of Prescription Opioid Use. In: Phillips Jonathan K, et al, eds. US: National Academies Press; 2017. https://doi. org/10.17226/24781.PUBMED ID: 29023083.
- Vowles KE, McEntee ML, Julnes PS, Frohe T, Ney JP, Van Der Goes DN. Rates of opioid misuse, abuse, and addiction in chronic pain: a systematic review and data synthesis. Pain 2015;156(4):569–576. https://doi.org/10.1097/01.j.pain.0000460357.01998.f1.
- Cicero TJ, Ellis MS, Surratt HL, Kurtz SP. The changing face of heroin use in the United States a retrospective analysis of the past 50 years. JAMA Psychiatry 2014;71(7):821– 826. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2014.366.
- Rudd RA, Aleshire N, Zibbell JE, Matthew Gladden R. Increases in drug and opioid overdose deaths - United States, 2000-2014. Am J Transplant 2016;16(4):1323–1327. https: //doi.org/10.1111/ajt.13776.
- Mars SG, Ciccarone D, Bourgois P, Karandinos G, Montero F. "Every 'never' i ever said came true": transitions from opioid pills to heroin injecting. Int J Drug Policy 2014;25 (2):257–266. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drugpo.2013.10.004.
- 10. Abuse Drug. Opioid overdose crisisAccessed November 20. 2020 https://www. drugabuse.gov/drug-topics/opioids/opioid-overdose-crisis.
- Hedberg K, Shields LM, Van Otterloo J, Bui LT, Livingston C. Integrating public health and health care strategies to address the opioid epidemic: the Oregon health Authority's opioid initiative. J Public Health Manag Pract 2019;25(3):214–220. https://doi. org/10.1097/PHH.00000000000849.
- National Academies of Sciences E, Medicine. Pain management and the opioid epidemic: balancing societal and individual benefits and risks of prescription opioid use. National Academies Press. 2017.
- Center for Disease Control L-snfp. Life-saving naloxone from pharmaciesAccessed November 20. 2020 https://www.cdc.gov/vitalsigns/naloxone/index.html.
- Dasgupta N, Beletsky L, Ciccarone D. Opioid crisis: no easy fix to its social and economic determinants. Am J Public Health 2018;108(2):182–186. https://doi.org/10.2105/ AJPH.2017.304187.
- Clark RE, Samnaliev M, Baxter JD, Leung GY. The evidence Doesn't justify steps by state Medicaid programs to restrict opioid addiction treatment with buprenorphine. Health Aff 2011;30(8):1425–1433. https://doi.org/10.1377/hlthaff.2010.0532.
- Dole VP. Implications of methadone maintenance for theories of narcotic addiction. JAMA 1988;260(20):3025–3029.
- Connery HS. Medication-assisted treatment of opioid use disorder: review of the evidence and future directions. Harv Rev Psychiatry 2015;23(2):63–75. https://doi.org/10.1097/ HRP.0000000000000075.
- Chisholm-Burns MA, Spivey CA, Sherwin E, Wheeler J, Hohmeier K. The opioid crisis: origins, trends, policies, and the roles of pharmacists. Am J Health Syst Pharm 2019;76(7): 424–435.
- Godersky ME, Saxon AJ, Merrill JO, Samet JH, Simoni JM, Tsui JI. Provider and patient perspectives on barriers to buprenorphine adherence and the acceptability of video directly observed therapy to enhance adherence. Addict Sci Clin Pract 2019;14(1):11.
- Woods JS, Joseph H. From narcotic to normalizer: the misperception of methadone treatment and the persistence of prejudice and bias. Subst Use Misuse 2018;53(2):323–329.
- Manchikanti L, Giordano J, Boswell MV, Fellows B, Manchukonda R, Pampati V. Psychological factors as predictors of opioid abuse and illicit drug use in chronic pain patients. J Opioid Manag 2007;3(2):89-100.
- Olsen Y, Sharfstein JM. Confronting the stigma of opioid use disorder—and its treatment. JAMA 2014;311(14):1393–1394.
- United States Department of Health and Human Services. Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration. Accessed November 20: https://www.samhsa.gov/ 2020.
- Latkin CA, Clyde C, Dayton L, et al. Stigma and drug use settings as correlates of selfreported, non-fatal overdose among people who use drugs in Baltimore. Maryland Int J Drug Policy 2019;68:86–92. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drugpo.2019.03.012.
- Ahern J, Galea S, Stuber J. Stigma, discrimination and the health of illicit drug users. Drug Alcohol Depend 2007;88(2–3):188–196. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2006.10.014.
- Julia W, Anuja B, Monica B, et al. "Don't judge a book by its cover": a qualitative study of methadone Patients' experiences of stigma. Subst Abuse 2017;11. https://doi. org/10.1177/1178221816685087.
- Kulesza M, Watkins KE, Ober AJ, Osilla KC, Ewing B. Internalized stigma as an independent risk factor for substance use problems among primary care patients: rationale and preliminary support. Drug Alcohol Depend 2017;180:52–55. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. drugalcdep.2017.08.002.
- Link BG, Phelan JC. Conceptualizing stigma. Annu Rev Sociol 2001;27(1):363–385. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.soc.27.1.363.
- Chatterjee A, Yu EJ, Tishberg L. Exploring opioid use disorder, its impact, and treatment among individuals experiencing homelessness as part of a family. Drug Alcohol Depend 2018;188:161–168. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2018.04.012.
- Green TC, Case P, Fiske H, et al. Perpetuating stigma or reducing risk ? Perspectives from naloxone consumers and pharmacists on pharmacy-based naloxone in 2 states. J Am Pharm Assoc 2017;57(2):19–27. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.japh.2017.01.013.

- Velasquez M, Flannery M, Badolato R, et al. Perceptions of extended-release naltrexone, methadone, and buprenorphine treatments following release from jail. Addict Sci Clin Pract 2019;14(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s13722-019-0166-0.
- Charron E, Mayo RM, Heavner-Sullivan SF, et al. "It's a very nuanced discussion with every woman": Health care providers' communication practices during contraceptive counseling for patients with substance use disorders. Contraception 2020;102(5):349– 355. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.contraception.2020.09.002.
- Faggiano F. Methadone maintenance at different dosages for opioid dependence. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2003;3, CD002208. https://doi.org/10.1002/14651858. CD002208.
- Carney T, Parry CDH, Van Hout MC, Norman I, Dada S, Siegfried N. Dihydrocodeine for detoxification and maintenance treatment in individuals with opiate use disorders. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2020;2. https://doi.org/10.1002/14651858.CD012254. pub2.
- Mattick RP, Breen C, Kimber J, Davoli M. Buprenorphine maintenance versus placebo or methadone maintenance for opioid dependence. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2014;2. https://doi.org/10.1002/14651858.CD002207.pub4.
- Campbell R, Britten N, Pound P, et al. Using meta-ethnography to synthesise qualitative research. Moving beyond effectiveness in evidence synthesis 2006;75:82.
- Britten N, Campbell R, Pope C, Donovan J, Morgan M, Pill R. Using meta ethnography to synthesise qualitative research: a worked example. J Health Serv Res Policy 2002;7(4): 209–215.
- Collins JA, Fauser BC. Balancing the strengths of systematic and narrative reviews. Oxford University Press. 2005.
- Lewin S, Glenton C, Munthe-Kaas H, et al. Using qualitative evidence in decision making for health and social interventions: an approach to assess confidence in findings from qualitative evidence syntheses (GRADE-CERQual). PLoS Med 2015;12(10), e1001895.
- Gunn A, Guarino H. "Not human, dead already": perceptions and experiences of drugrelated stigma among opioid-using young adults from the former Soviet Union living in the U.S. Int J Drug Policy 2016;38:63–72. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drugpo.2016.10.012.
- Bearnot B, Mitton JA, Hayden M, Park ER. Experiences of care among individuals with opioid use disorder-associated endocarditis and their healthcare providers: results from a qualitative study. J Subst Abus Treat 2019;102:16–22.
- Hatcher AE, Mendoza S, Hansen H. At the expense of a life: race, class, and the meaning of buprenorphine in Pharmaceuticalized "care". Subst Use Misuse 2018;53(2):301–310. https://doi.org/10.1080/10826084.2017.1385633.
- Hewell VM, Vasquez AR, Rivkin ID. Systemic and individual factors in the buprenorphine treatment-seeking process: A qualitative study. Subst Abuse Treat Prev Policy 2017;12 (1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s13011-016-0085-y.
- Furst RT. Suboxone misuse along the opiate maintenance treatment pathway. J Addict Dis 2013;32(1):53–67. https://doi.org/10.1080/10550887.2012.759860.
- Tofighi B, Chemi C, Suhail-Sindhu S, Lee JD, Dickson V, Williams AR. Patient barriers and facilitators to medications for opioid use disorder in primary care. Subst Use Misuse 2019;54(14):2409–2419. https://doi.org/10.1080/10826084.2019.1653324.
- Wilson M, Shaw MR, Roberts MLA. Opioid initiation to substance use treatment: "they Just Want to Feel Normal". Nurs Res 2018;67(5):369–378. https://doi.org/10.1097/ NNR.00000000000298.
- Mitchell SG, Peterson JA, Kelly SM, et al. Redefining retention: recovery from the patient's perspective. J Psychoactive Drugs 2011;43(2):99-107. https://doi. org/10.1080/02791072.2011.587392.
- Peterson JA, Schwartz RP, Mitchell SG, et al. Why don't out-of-treatment individuals enter methadone treatment programmes? Int J Drug Policy 2010;21(1):36–42. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.drugpo.2008.07.004.
- Teruya C, Hasson AL, Thomas C, et al. Patient perspectives on buprenorphine/naloxone: a qualitative study of retention during the starting treatment with agonist replacement therapies (START) study. J Psychoactive Drugs 2014;46(5):412–426. https://doi. org/10.1080/02791072.2014.921743.
- Bailey AM, Wermeling DP. Naloxone for opioid overdose prevention: pharmacists' role in community-based practice settings. Ann Pharmacother 2014;48(5):601–606. https://doi. org/10.1177/1060028014523730.
- Fleming ML, Bapat SS, Varisco TJ. Using the theory of planned behavior to investigate community pharmacists' beliefs regarding engaging patients about prescription drug misuse. Res Social Adm Pharm 2018. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sapharm.2018.10.027.
- Kang I, Urick B, Vohra R, Ives TJ. Physician-pharmacist collaboration on chronic noncancer pain management during the opioid crisis: A qualitative interview study. Res Social Adm Pharm 2018. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sapharm.2019.04.052.
- Jackson J. "They talk to me like a person" Experiences of people with opioid use disorder in an injectable opioid agonist treatment (iOAT) program: A qualitative interview study using interpretive description. Qeios 2021. https://doi.org/10.32388/8981E5.
- Mathis SM, Hagemeier N, Foster KN, Baker K, Pack RP. "It's took over this region": patient perspectives of prescription drug Abuse in Appalachia. Subst Use Misuse 2020;55 (1):37–47.
- 55. Nafradi L, Nakamoto K, Schulz PJ. Is patient empowerment the key to promote adherence? A systematic review of the relationship between self-efficacy, health locus of control and medication adherence. PLoS One 2017;12(10), e0186458.
- 56. Kao D, Torres LR, Guerrero EG, Mauldin RL, Bordnick PS. Spatial accessibility of drug treatment facilities and the effects on locus of control, drug use, and service use among heroin-injecting Mexican American men. Int J Drug Policy 2014;25(3):598–607.